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Federal M ne Safety and Health Review Commi ssion (FF.MS. HRC.)
O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges

SECRETARY OF LABOR, Cl VI L PENALTY PROCEEDI NG
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , Docket No. WEVA 91-142
PETI TI ONER A. C. No. 46-06887-03522
V. Mont ague M ne

MACK ENERGY COMPANY
RESPONDENT

DECI SI ON

Appearance: Panela S. Silverman, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor
U. S. Departnment of Labor, Arlington, Virginia, for
the Secretary;

Gerald P. Duff, Esq., Hanlon, Duff & Paleudis
Co., LPA, St. Cairsville, Chio, for the Respondent.

Bef ore: Judge Maurer

This civil penalty proceedi ng concerns proposals for the
assessnment of civil penalties against the respondent, Mack Energy
Conmpany (Mack) pursuant to section 110(a) of the Federal M ne
Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. O 820(a), for four
al l eged violations of certain mandatory safety standards found in
Part 77, Title 30, Code of Federal Regul ations. At hearing, the
parties proposed a settlenment concerning three of these section
104(d) (2) orders. Concerning Order No. 3476017, the Secretary
proposes to nodify it to a section 104(a) citation and reduce the
civil penalty from $850 to $395. Wth regard to O der No.

3476019, the Secretary proposes to also nodify that order to a
section 104(a) citation and |ikew se reduce the proposed penalty
from $850 to $395. Finally, the Secretary al so proposes to nodify
Order No. 3476030 to a section 104(a) citation and reduce the
proposed civil penalty from $1000 to $395. Taking into account
the six statutory criteria for civil penalty assessment contai ned

in section 110(i) of the Act, | conclude that the proposed
settl enents are reasonable, proper and in the public interest.
They are therefore approved and will be incorporated into ny

final decision and order herein.

The issues contained in one section 104(d)(2) Order -- Oder
No. 3476018 were tried before me on May 30, 1991, in Weeling,
West Virginia. Both parties have filed posthearing briefs, which
I have duly considered in making the follow ng decision
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STl PULATI ONS

The parties stipulated to the follow ng, which | accepted
(Tr. 10-11):

1. Mack Energy Conpany is the operator of the Montague M ne
which is the subject of this proceeding.

2. Operations at the Montague M ne are subject to the M ne
Safety and Health Act.

3. The undersigned Administrative Law Judge has jurisdiction
to decide this case.

4, MSHA I nspector Sherman Sl aughter was acting in an
official capacity as a duly authorized representative of the
Secretary of Labor when he issued Order No. 3476018 on July 12,
1990.

5. A true copy of Order No. 3476018 was properly served on
t he operator or its agent.

6. The violation history constitutes 57 assessed viol ations
on 49 inspection days which is an average of 1.165 violations per
i nspecti on day.

7. The violation was abated within the tine set for
abat ement .

8. The operator is a noderate sized operator, and the m ne
is a noderate sized mne. The operator produced 222,000 tons and
this mne produced 209,000 tons in 1989.

DI SCUSSI ON

Section 104(d)(2) Order No. 3476018 was i ssued by MSHA
I nspect or Sherman Sl aughter on July 12, 1990. The inspector cited
a violation of the mandatory safety standard found at 30 C.F.R 0O
77.1004(b)1 and the cited condition or practice is described
as foll ows:

Loose, cracked, unconsolidated, overhangi ng rocks
existed in the approx. 35 foot highwall of the
Pittsburgh 8 pit where an end | oader and two rock
trucks were | oading spoil directly under the rocks and
hauling it back along the highwall. The rocks existed
in the wall approximtely 20 feet above the floor of
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the pit and extended along the wall approximtely 120 feet. The
af fected area was not posted and this was an unsafe ground
condition with overhangi ng highwall. Jack WIfong,
Superintendent, examined this pit area and highwall and directed
the end | oader and rock trucks to work in the pit. He knew this
condition existed. It was raining and had rai ned during the night
previous to this shift.

On July 12, 1990, Inspector Sherman Sl aughter conducted an
i nspection of the Montague Mne. He arrived at the nmine site at
approximately 6:00 a.m, and nmet with mner safety representative
Larry Curtis, maintenance foreman Bud Conner, and mi ne
superintendent Jack W fong. However, only Larry Curtis
acconpani ed | nspector Sl aughter on the ensuing inspection.

During that inspection, the inspector exam ned the highwal
in the Pittsburgh Eight Pit and found what he described as | oose,
cracked rock and two areas of overhangi ng rock extending out from
the wall a distance of approximately 6 and 8 feet, respectively.
The overhangs and cracked rock enconpassed a di stance of
approximately 120 feet along the wall

The 8 foot overhang was supported by a rock which was
cracked on both sides and was identified by the inspector as the
"No. 1" rock. [The rock the inspector was nobst concerned with --
see Govt. Ex. Nos. 3 and 4]. On one side of the "No. 1" rock, the
crack had wi dened into an 8 to 10 inch vertical gap filled with
| oose rock. The cracked gap extended up the wall and curved
around toward the overhang where it intersected w th another
vertical crack. This crack had al so wi dened into a gap of
approximately 6 i nches and extended up the overhang from where
the overhang net the highwall. In addition, another crack
extended down the wall behind the "No. 1" rock and the cap rock
on top of the overhang consisted of |ayered or fractured
sandst one which was not consolidated with the wall

Significantly, neither of the aforenmenti oned overhangs were
posted as required by 30 CF.R 0O 77.1004(b). That fact al one,
wi t hout nore, substantiates a violation of the cited standard.
That settled, the next issue to consider is whether the failure
to take down the overhangs or post the area is a "significant and
substantial" violation of the cited nmandatory standard.

A "significant and substantial" violation is described in
section 104(d)(1) of the Mne Act as a violation "of such nature
as could significantly and substantially contribute to the cause
and effect of a coal or other mine safety or health hazard." 30
C.F.R 0O814(d)(1). Aviolation is properly designated
significant and substantial "if, based upon the particular facts
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surroundi ng the violation there exists a reasonable |ikelihood
that the hazard contributed to will result in an injury or
illness of a reasonably serious nature." Cenment Division

Nati onal Gypsum Co., 3 FMSHRC 822, 825 (April 1981).

In Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (January 1984), the
Commi ssion explained its interpretation of the term "significant
and substantial" as foll ows:

In order to establish that a violation of a mandatory
safety standard is significant and substantial under
Nati onal Gypsum the Secretary of Labor nust prove: (1)
the underlying violation of a mandatory safety
standard; (2) a discrete safety hazard--that is, a
measure of danger to safety contributed to by the
violation; (3) a reasonable likelihood that the hazard
contributed to will result in an injury; and (4) a
reasonabl e |ikelihood that the injury in question wll
be of a reasonably serious nature.

In United States Steel M ning Conpany, Inc., 7 FMSHRC 1125,
1129, the Commi ssion stated further as foll ows:

We have explained further that the third el enent of the
Mat hies formula "requires that the Secretary establish
a reasonabl e |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to
wWill result in an event in which there is an injury."

U S. Steel Mning Co., 6 FMSHRC 1834, 1836 (August
1984). We have enphasi zed that, in accordance with the
| anguage of section 104(d)(1), it is the contribution
of a violation to the cause and effect of a hazard that
nmust be significant and substantial. U S. Steel Mning
Conpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1866, 1868 (August 1984); U

S. Steel M ning Conmpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1573, 1574-75
(July 1984).

The question of whether any particular violation is
significant and substantial nust be based on the particular facts
surroundi ng the violation, including the nature of the mne
i nvol ved, Secretary of Labor v. Texasgulf, Inc., 10 FMSHRC 498
(April 1988); Youghi ogheny & Chio Coal Conpany, 9 FMSHRC 2007
(Decenber 1987).

I nspector Slaughter testified that due to the condition of
the highwall and the fact that he observed an end | oader and two
rock trucks working in the area around the highwall, he believed
there to be a significant rock fall hazard if the condition was
not abated. Furthernore, | believe the inspector properly
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consi dered the effect of continuing mning operations on the
gravity of the situation. The overhangi ng rocks were | arge and
because of the existing cracks in the wall, reasonably likely to
fall if the overhanging conditions were allowed to persist.

Respondent Mack raises two substantive issues in defense of
this point. First, they contend that the highwall was safe. They
know this because they tried to scale the entire highwall a day
or two prior to the citation being issued and no | oose nateria
coul d be brought down. But this defense fails to take into
account the dynamics of the environment the highwall exists in
Changes in the weather occur for instance. It was raining at the
time the citation was issued and it certainly is in the real m of
possibility that it could rain for several days running. A |lot of
runni ng water could |loosen a rock that just a few days before
coul d not be scal ed down. The inspector testified fromhis
experience that he has observed many occasi ons where a rock could
not be scaled down off a highwall only to have it fall out of the
wal |l at sonme later tine because of changing pressures in the
hi ghwal | or because of weather-related deterioration of the
hi ghwal | .

Secondly, Mack contends that the inspector must be m staken
or even |lying about seeing the end | oader and rock trucks
operating at 11:00 a.m, underneath the overhangi ng rocks. Upon
reflection, it is my viewthat it is not necessary to bel abor the
i ssue of exactly what time the equi pnent was in service or out of
service. Nor is it essential to prove that the equi pnent was
operating directly underneath the overhangi ng rocks. Wat is
clearly in the record is the inspector's sworn testinony, which
do credit, that he personally observed the equi pment working in
the area of the overhangi ng highwall that nmorning between 10: 00
and 11: 00 a.m He testified that he saw the situation at
approximately 10:30 a.m and issued the order at 11:00 a.m More
specifically, he observed the two rock trucks working within 12
to 15 feet of the highwall at that tine. Gven the condition of
the highwall that norning, that was too close in his opinion, and
a serious or even fatal injury could reasonably have resulted if
any of this overhanging rock material had fallen down on them

The inmportant features at this stage of the proceeding are
that the overhangi ng highwall had not been taken down or posted
and nmen were working in that area that morning. It is not so
i mportant exactly what tinme it was, or if the equi pment that was
operating was ever observed directly underneath the overhangs.
The rock trucks passing 12 to 15 feet fromthe wall as they
backed in front of the overhang is close enough to nmake this an
"S & S" violation and I so find.

| fully realize that there is a conflict in the evidence.
The respondent's witnesses state that the end | oader broke down
between 9:00 and 10:00 a.m on the norning in question, whereas
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the inspector insists that the two rock trucks were stil
operating at 10:30 a.m Since there would be no use for the rock
trucks without the end | oader to |oad them by inplication, the
respondent's evidence is that they also were not operating at
that time. On the other hand, the inspector was at the mne site
since 6:00 a.m that nmorning. Maybe he saw the rock trucks in
operation before 10:30 or even before 10:00 a.m In any event, he
was a very credible witness with no denonstrabl e bias agai nst
this operator. He testified very clearly on direct that he saw
the rock trucks operating in the close vicinity of a potentially
danger ous overhangi ng hi ghwall. He was unshakabl e on

cross-exam nation and | sinply believe him He has no reason to
lie about it and | believe the trucks were operating where he
says they were that norning at approximately 10:30 a.m, give or
take 30 m nutes.

The Secretary also urges that | find this violation to be an
"unwarrantable failure."

It should be pointed out here that Order No. 3476018 was
i ssued by Inspector Slaughter as a section 104(d)(2) order on
July 12, 1990, relying on section 104(d) (1) Oder No. 3334014 in
the section 104(d) "chain" for its procedural validity. However
on March 15, 1991, Conmi ssion Judge George A. Koutras nodified
that (d)(1) order which had been issued on January 4, 1990, to a
section 104(d)(1) citation. Mack Energy Conmpany, 13 FMSHRC 432,
468 (March 1991).

Section 104(d) (1) authorizes the inspector to i ssue an
unwarrantable failure order if, during the sanme inspection, or
any subsequent inspection conducted within 90 days after the
i ssuance of the initial unwarrantable failure citation, he finds
anot her violation of any nmandatory safety standard which he
bel i eves was al so caused by an unwarrantable failure by the
operator to conply.

In this case, however, since nore than 90 days el apsed
bet ween the issuance of section 104(d)(1) Citation No. 3334014 on
January 4, 1990, and the purported order issued by |Inspector
Sl aughter on July 12, 1990, it cannot stand as a section 104(d)
order. It must therefore necessarily be nodified to either a
section 104(a) citation or a section 104(d)(1) citation,
dependi ng on the unwarrantable failure finding which | nake
her ei n.

The Conmi ssion has held that an "unwarrantable failure" to
conply with a mandatory standard nmeans "aggravated conduct,
constituting nore than ordinary negligence, by a mine operator in
relation to a violation of the Act." Enery M ning Corporation, 9
FMSHRC 1997 (Decenber 1987); Youghi ogheny & Ohi o Coal Conpany,
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9 FMSHRC 2007 (December 1987); Secretary of Labor v. Rushton

M ni ng Conpany, 10 FMSHRC 249 (March 1988). Referring to its
prior holding in the Emery Mning case, the Commi ssion stated as
follows in Youghi ogheny & Chio, at 9 FMSHRC 2010:

We stated that whereas negligence is conduct that is
"inadvertent," "thoughtless" or "inattentive,"
unwar r ant abl e conduct is conduct that is described as
"not justifiable" or "inexcusable." Only by construing
unwarrantable failure by a mine operator as aggravated
conduct constituting nmore than ordinary negligence, do
unwarrant abl e failure sanctions assune their intended
distinct place in the Act's enforcenent schene.

Superintendent WIfong was aware of the condition of the
hi ghwal | , knew it was not posted or "dangered off," and knew nen
(rock truck drivers) were to be working in the i medi ate area of
the highwall on the norning of July 12, 1990. | therefore find
that the failure of Wlfong to either pronptly take down the
over hangi ng portions of the highwall or post the dangerous area
exposed miners to a falling rock hazard and constitutes
negl i gence of such an aggravated nature so as to establish an
"unwarrantable failure” in this case. Under these circunstances,
the inspector's "unwarrantable failure" findings will be affirnmed
her ei n.

Wth regard to the assessnment of a civil penalty for the
violation, the parties have stipulated to the operator's
violation history, good faith abatement, and noderate size and
concur in the inspector's high negligence and "S & S" findings.
also find the violation to be a serious one.

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and
taking into account the six statutory civil penalty assessnent
criteria found in section 110(i) of the Act, | conclude and find
that a civil penalty of $700 is reasonable and appropriate.

ORDER

1. Order Nos. 3476017, 3476019, and 3476030 ARE MODI FIED to
section 104(a) citations, with "S & S" findings, and as nodified,
t hey ARE AFFI RVED

2. Order No. 3476018 IS MODI FIED to a section 104(d) (1)
citation, with an "S & S" finding, and as nodified, it IS
AFFI RMVED
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3. Mack Energy Conpany is ORDERED TO PAY the sum of $1885 within
30 days of the date of this decision as a civil penalty for the
vi ol ati ons found herein.

Roy J. Maurer
Adm ni strative Law Judge
FOOTNOTES START HERE

1. This section of the standards requires that overhanging
hi ghwal | s and banks be taken down or in the alternative, the area
post ed.



